A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant John Smith was deprived of his Sixth
Amendment and Article I, § 22, rights to effective
assistance of counsel. 

2. The prosecutor committed constitutionally offensive
misconduct and violated appellant' s Article I, § 9, and Fifth

Amendment rights. 

3. The cumulative effect of the errors deprived Mr. Smith

of his due process rights to a fair trial before an impartial
fact - finder. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The entire case was about credibility, as both Smith and the
alleged victim claimed they had been acting in self - defense
after the other person had hit them first. Before trial, it was

established that the prosecution was going to be allowed to
impeach Mr. Smith with a prior conviction for a crime of

dishonesty if Smith testified. 

Was counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to " pull
the sting" from the prejudicial prior conviction evidence by
asking Smith about it in direct examination, instead
allowing the prosecution to ask about it and then use
Smith' s " failure" to tell the jury about it in direct
examination to impugn Smith' s credibility, the crucial issue
at trial? 

2. The prosecutor elicited testimony that Smith had not gone
to police after the incident to tell his side of the story. In
closing argument, the prosecutor then repeatedly
reminded the jury of this " failure," arguing that it was
evidence not only that Smith was not credible but also that
he had committed the assault and had not acted in self - 
defense. 

Did the prosecutor commit flagrant, prejudicial and

constitutionally offensive misconduct in repeatedly
urging the jury to use Smith' s " failure" to go to police
to tell his version of events before his arrest as evidence
of his guilt? 

Further, was counsel ineffective in failing to object to
and properly handle this misconduct? 
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3. Does the cumulative effect of the errors compel reversal
where all of the errors prevented the defendant from

receiving a fair trial? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant John R. S. Smith was charged by amended information

with second - degree assault and unlawful possession of a stolen vehicle, 

both charged with aggravating circumstances of a " presumptive sentence

that is clearly too lenient" because of the defendant' s prior unscored

misdemeanors and that he had multiple current offenses and his high

offender score would result in some of the current offenses going

unpunished. CP 4 -5; RCW 9. 94A.010; RCW 9. 94A.535( 2)( b) and ( c); 

RCW 9A.36.021( l)(a); RCW 9A.56. 068; RCW 9A.56. 140. 

After hearings before the Honorable Commissioner Megan Foley

on September 28, 2012, and the 1- Ionorable Brian Tollefson on December

11 and 27, 2012, the prosecution dismissed the stolen vehicle possession

charge without prejudice and trial was held only on the assault charge

before the Honorable Judge Linda C. J. Lee on January 8 - 10 and 14, 2013.' 

The jury convicted Smith as charged. CP 69. 

After a continuance on February 1, 2013, sentencing was held on

February 28, 2013, after which the court imposed a standard -range

sentence. RP 407 -412; CP 86 -99. 

The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of 9 volumes, which will be

referred to as follows: 
September 28, 2012, as " 1 RP" 

December 1 1 , 2012, as " 2 R P" 

December 27, 2012, as " 3RP" 

the 6 chronologically paginated volumes containing the proceedings of January
8, 9, 10 and 14 and February 1 and 28, 2013, as " RP." 



Smith appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 100. 

2. Testimony at trial

Jeff Morvel knew a man named John Smith through Morvel' s ex- 

girlfriend, Rebecca " Dani" Minner but had only met Smith " like total of

two or three times" when, on August 19, 2012, Morvel claimed, Smith

assaulted him. RP 157 -58. Morvel said he went to pick up Dani at the

home of a mutual friend, Edmann Craig or " CC." RP 157 -58, 246 -48, 

293. Dani had called Morvel on the phone at about 2 or 3 in the afternoon

and asked him to give her a ride to see her doctor for a pregnancy checkup

the next day. RP 160. He had agreed to go pick her up after he was done

with his chores, which he thought was both 4 or 5 p.m. but also "[ dust

before dusk" that August night. RP 161. Dani was going to stay at

Morvel' s place overnight. RP 161. 

Morvel had dated Dani but said they were no longer

boyfriend /girlfriend" at that time. RP 159. Instead, she was dating Mr. 

Smith. RP 157 -58. 

Morvel, who had dropped Dani off at " CC' s" motor home before, 

drove over, getting there around 7 or 8, when, he thought, it was "[ g] etting

dark." RP 162. When he arrived, he saw a " Blazer" he thought belonged

to Smith. RP 162. 

According to Morvel, he was walking up to the motor home and

Smith carne down the stairs from the front door, " starting to Mail his

arms." RP 163. Morvel said he thought Smith was " just going to mouth

off at me" but instead Smith said, " I heard you were talking shit about me" 

and then punched Morvel in the face. RP 163. 
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At trial, Morvel claimed that he " fell back" into his car with that

punch, denting the vehicle. RP 163, 166. On cross - examination, however, 

he said he parked about 15 -20 feet away from the front door of the motor

home and was walking up to the motor home, at the lowest stair, when he

was hit. RP 178. A few moments later, he claimed he was three or four

feet from the stairway when he was first hit. RP 188. 

According to Morvel, Morvel hit his car because he was " trying to

not fall down" and " fell into" his car. RP 178. He then said that he had

stumbled trying to get back on" his feet after he was hit and that is how

he dented it, in the driver' s side door. RP 179. 

He said he then " gathered" his " wits" and started " defending" 

himself. RP 163. He stood up and " got one lick in," knocking off Smith' s

hat. RP 166. Morvel said that, after Morvel hit Smith once, Morvel saw

a flash in the back" of his eyes and someone then hit him from behind. 

RP 166. This caused Morvel to fall into Smith as Smith was swinging on

him. RP 166. Morvel said he did not get knocked out but he remembered

being in the street getting hit in the face and having his head hit the

pavement. RP 166. 

At trial, Morvel said he remembered seeing a figure he thought was

CC" behind Smith, on the ground, towards the rear of the motor home, 

and that he told this to police when he spoke to them the day after the

incident or the next day. RP 172, 177. Morvel also claimed at trial that he

had told police and the people at the emergency room that he had been

jumped by two people." RP 182. 

A physician who worked as the interpreting radiologist when
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Morvel was at the emergency room described him having " extensive

fractures to the facial bones." RP 209 -13. 

Morvel claimed at trial that, at the emergency room, "[ t] hey" 

wanted to " do surgery" but he had eaten lunch so they could not. RP 181. 

The plastic surgeon had not wanted to do surgery, either, saying it would

be more pain than it was worth and would not have much effect. RP 189. 

A physician, however, testified that the emergency room records

indicated that Morvel said he had not, in fact, eaten anything that day, 

complaining that he had not because he could not chew. RP 220. 

Edmann Craig or " CC" knew Smith through Dani and said he

thought of Dani as his stepdaughter. RP 246 -48, 293. At some point the

night of the incident, he went outside of his trailer and saw Morvel on the

ground. RP 252. Craig said, " 1 cannot have this here at my place" and

Smith responded, "[ n] o problem. Done." RP 252. Morvel then got up, 

got in the car with a hat or something and left, sporting a bloody nose. RP

252, 257. Craig saw Smith' s hand and said it was " pretty busted up." RP

257. 

Craig was clear that he himself never hit Morvel and he was not

outside when Morvel arrived at the home. RP 254. 

According to what Craig told police, he saw Smith hit Morvel

when Morvel was lying in the street on his back. RP 253. Craig also told

police, however, that the two men were " duking it out" in the street. RP

254 -55. 

At trial, Craig clarified that he saw Smith hit Morvel with a

roundhouse" which made Morvel go to the ground, but that Craig never
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actually saw Smith hit Morvel when Morvel was already on the ground. 

RP 255. 

Craig told police that Smith was upset when Dani told him that

Morvel was coming to pick her up. RP 259. Craig said Morvel and Smith

don' t get along," and told that to police. RP 261 -65. At trial, however, 

Craig said that he did not believe that Smith knew that Morvel was coming

over, because Smith had been outside when Dani had spoken to Morvel on

the phone. RP 254 -62. Craig said when he told police that he thought

Dani had told Smith that Morvel was going to arrive, Craig had been

wrong. RP 265. 

After driving off, Morvel did not call police right away. RP 273. 

Deputy Levi Redding of the Pierce County Sheriff' s Department

responded to a call to come to Morvel' s home that night and arrived at

nearly 2 in the morning. RP 267 -71. Redding spoke to Morvel about

going to the hospital and Morvel declined. RP 274. Morvel also refused

to give a handwritten statement at the time and declined to sign a release

form so police could get his medical records, although he had done so by

the time of trial. RP 272, 280. 

Contrary to what Morvel claimed, Deputy Redding said Morvel

never told the officer that two people had assaulted him. RP 182, 275. 

John Smith testified that he got a phone call from Dani to pick her

up at her mom' s house and take her to visit with " CC." RP 281 - 85. Dani

chatted with CC inside the home while Smith worked on the stereo

speakers in his truck, planning to just " kick it" there the rest of the
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evening. RP 286, 293. 

They had been there about 15 minutes and Smith was corning out

of the motor home when Morvel confronted him. RP 287. As soon as

Morvel saw Smith, Morvel started yelling, accusing Smith of something. 

RP 287. 

Morvel then hit Smith. RP 287 -88. The two of them fell onto the

ground and Smith said the fight stopped with CC breaking it up. RP 288. 

Smith did not however, hit or kick Morvel when they were on the ground. 

RP 288. Smith admitted hitting Morvel several times and said he had a

swollen hand as a result. RP 292. Smith' s injuries from the tight included

a cut lip and a swollen eye. RP 288. 

Smith admitted that, when he was contacted by police on about

August 22, he did not say that he had been assaulted but instead said that

he had not been involved in a fight at all. RP 290 -91. 

D. ARGUMENT

1. APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS TO

EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BY COUNSEL' S

UNPROFESSIONAL AND INEXPLICABLE FAILURES

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee the accused the

right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 366

U. S. 668, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 ( 1984); State v. Hendrickson, 

129 Wn.2d 61, 77 -78, 917 P. 2d 563 ( 1996), overruled in part and on other

grounds , Carey v. Musladin, 549 U. S. 70, 127 S. Ct. 649, 166 L. Ed. 2d

482 ( 2006). To show ineffective assistance, a defendant must show that, 

despite a presumption of effectiveness, counsel' s representation was

deficient and that the deficiency caused prejudice. State v. Bowerman, 
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115 Wn. 2d 794, 808, 802 P. 2d 116 ( 1990). 

In this case, this Court should reverse, because appointed counsel' s

representation below was deficient and that deficiency prejudiced Mr. 

Smith' s defense.' 

a. Relevant facts

Prior to trial, the prosecution moved to be permitted to introduce

Smith' s " number of convictions for crimes of dishonesty" to impeach him

if he testified. RP 7. The prosecutor listed 11 prior convictions over ten

years old and another for conduct more than 11 years before but which had

a release date within the last ten years. RP 8 -9. The prosecutor argued

that he should be allowed to inform the jury of the whole litany of Smith' s

prior crimes of dishonesty, because " a key issue" in the case was

credibility. RP 13 - 14. 

Defense counsel objected that the old criminal history was " highly

prejudicial and really not probative at all." RP 16. 

The trial court ruled that a 2002 conviction for making a false

statement was admissible as a crime of dishonesty less than 10 years old. 

RP 147 -48. The court went through an analysis with the other crimes, 

however, noting that they were crimes of dishonesty from 16 -22 years old

and " balancing" the probative value against the prejudicial effect. RP 147- 

48. The court excluded the evidence only because of the risk of having

those convictions used to prove " general propensity" but also because, 

under its ruling, the prosecution was already going to be able to impeach

The prosecutor' s misconduct in relation to the argument in closing is discussed in
more detail, infra. 
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Smith with his 2002 false statement conviction. RP 149. 

In direct examination of Mr. Smith, counsel did not ask Smith any

questions about his prior conviction. RP 281 - 89. The prosecutor then

began his cross - examination by asking Smith, "[ f]irst of all, you have a

prior conviction for false statement; is that correct ?" RP 289. Smith

answered in the affirmative and the prosecutor then established the year of

the offense as " 2003." RP 289. 

In closing argument, after acknowledging that the " huge question" 

in the case is " credibility," counsel addressed Smith' s credibility: 

John [ Smith] took the stand and he admits to you that he was
not honest with the officer. He told the officer he wasn' t in a

fight, basically that he had not had any altercation with Jeffrey. 
And he also takes about a false statement conviction that he had, 

and that' s Instruction No. 4. And this clearly tells you that
evidence of that false statement can only be used when you
look at John' s credibility. So should you believe him or not
because of this prior crime? It can' t be used by you in saying, 
Well, if he committed a crime in the past, then he committed

a crime now." That' s how it can' t be used. But once again, I
think you need to look at the bigger picture. So John takes the
stand, admits, " yes, I was not honest with the officer." Admits that

he has this prior false statement, which is just a little under ten
years old. ... Everything else he told the detective he says was the
truth. 

RP 367 -68. 

In rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor then declared: 

Defense counsel tells you — - essentially tells you how
honest the defendant is because he comes in here and tells you, 
Yeah, 1 lied to the police," and[,] "[ y] eah 1 have a conviction for

false statement." Except when did you find out about that? 

When did you find out that he had a conviction for false
statement. When I asked him about it. He didn' t share that

with you. He didn' t voluntarily share that with you. 

DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection, Your Honor. 1 think

that' s burden shifting. 
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PROSECUTOR]: Your honor, this is closing argument. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

PROSECUTOR]: And then he - - when did he admit
that he lied to the police? Again he didn' t volunteer that to you. 1

had to ask that. As defense counsel told you, this case is all

about credibility. 

RP 381 ( emphasis added). 

b. Counsel was prejudicially ineffective

Counsel' s failures in relation to this issue were ineffective

assistance. Counsel' s performance is deficient if it falls below an

objective standard of reasonableness" and was not sound strategy. See In

re PRP of Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888, 828 P. 2d 1086, cert. denied, 506

U. S. 958 ( 1992). That performance prejudices the defense when there is a

reasonable probability that, but for counsel' s deficient performance, the

result would have been different. Hendrickson. 129 Wn.2d at 78. A

reasonable probability" is one which is " sufficient to undermine

confidence in the outcome." State v. Thomas, 109 Wn. 2d 222, 226, 743

P. 2d 816 ( 1987). 

In this case, those standards are more than met by counsel' s

inexplicable failure to try to minimize the prejudice to her client from the

introduction of his prior conviction by asking him, on direct examination, 

about his prior conviction for a crime of dishonesty. 

In general, under ER 609, when a defendant has a prior conviction

for a " crime of dishonesty" ( such as making a false statement here), 

evidence of that conviction is admissible to impeach him if he takes the

stand. See. e.g., State v. Brown, 113 Wn.2d 520, 529, 782 P. 2d 1013
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1989), as corrected, 787 P. 3d 906 ( 1990). A crime of dishonesty, 

however, is not admissible if it is more than 10 years old as calculated

under the rule unless " the court determines, in the interests ofjustice, that

the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and

circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect." ER 609( b); 

State v. Russell, 104 Wn. App. 422, 434, 16 P. 3d 664 ( 2001). 

That is exactly the kind of analysis the trial court engaged in here

in deciding to exclude all of the prior convictions but one. The fact that

evidence of a prior conviction is admissible under ER 609, however, does

not mean that its introduction is harmless to the defendant or counsel' s

duties regarding that evidence are over. It has long been " recognized that

evidence of prior crimes is inherently prejudicial to a defendant in a

criminal case." State v. King, 75 Wn. App. 899, 905, 878 P. 2d 466

1994), review denied, 125 Wn. 2d 1021 ( 1995). Prior conviction evidence

is so potentially prejudicial that it makes " limiting instructions critically

important." State v. Dow, 162 Wn. App. 324, 333, 253 P. 3d 476 ( 2011). 

Indeed, such evidence is so prejudicial that it is reversible error for the trial

court to fail to give a limiting instruction if counsel requests one. Id; see

State v. Newbern, 95 Wn. App. 277, 295 -96, 975 P.2d 1041, review

denied, 138 Wn.2d 1018 ( 1999). 

As our Supreme Court has declared, a defendant is entitled to a

limiting instruction for such evidence because without such instruction, a

jury is likely to use the prior conviction evidence for an improper purpose: 

t] he jury may assume, first, that the person with a criminal
record has a ` bad' general character, and deserves to be sent

to prison whether or not they in fact committed the crime in
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question[, and second,] the jury may perceive the prior convictions
as proof of the defendant' s criminal propensities, making it more
likely the defendant committed the crimes charged. 

State v. Newton, 109 Wn.2d 69, 73, 743 P.2d 254 ( 1987). 

Here, although counsel requested a limiting instruction regarding

the prior conviction evidence later in trial, she first utterly failed to take a

basic step to minimize the prejudice the introduction of that evidence

caused her client by " pulling the sting" and introducing it in direct. A

party who knows that negative evidence such as a prior conviction will be

used to attack the credibility of a favorable witness can " pull the sting" and

reduce the prejudice of the evidence by introducing it themself. See e. g., 

State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 402, 945 P. 2d 1120 ( 1997). Not only

does it give that party a chance to put their own positive spin on the

evidence but it also takes away the power of the opposing party to

introduce the evidence as if it is a damning revelation. 

Here, however, counsel' s unprofessional failures ensured that the

evidence was introduced in the most damaging way possible to her client - 

by the prosecution, in cross - examination, as a revelation. 

Further, the prosecution then exploited counsel' s failure as if it

were attributable to Smith himself, telling the jury that Smith had not

voluntarily" told them about his prior conviction and using that " failure" 

as further evidence to prove the crucial issue in the case - Smith' s

credibility, or lack thereof. This unfair saddling of Smith with the intent

of deception was only possible based on counsel' s unprofessional mistake

in failing to take a rudimentary step any reasonable attorney would have

taken by asking her client about his prior conviction, giving him a chance
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to explain and minimizing its impact on the jury. Thus, not only did she

fail to " pull the sting" from the prior conviction but in fact added to the

stinger' s venom by giving the prosecution ammunition in its attack on

Smith' s credibility. Because of counsel' s failure to ask her client about the

prior conviction, the prosecution was able to reveal that conviction as if it

was something Smith was hiding, thus giving it far more weight than it

would otherwise bear. 

Indeed, the prosecutor specifically used counsel' s failure to ask

about Smith' s prior as evidence dint Smith was guilty, telling the jury that

Smith - not counsel - had not " voluntarily shared" the fact that he had a

prior conviction for a crime of dishonesty and then using that " deception" 

as further evidence that Smith was not credible and should be found guilty. 

RP 381.

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