A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

1. Was appellant denied a fair trial as a result of ineffective

assistance of counsel? 

2. Did the prosecutor commit prosecutorial misconduct by cross- 

examining defendant regarding his inconsistent statements? 

3. Was appellant denied a fair trial due to cumulative error?

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

C. ARGUMENT. 

APPELLANT WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF A FAIR

TRIAL BECAUSE OF INEFFECTIVE

ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL. 

a. Trial counsel was not ineffective. 

Appellant asserts he received ineffective assistance of counsel for

two failures of his attorney. First, he claims that his attorney's failure to

elicit his prior misdemeanor conviction during his direct examination

constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel and he should receive a new

trial as a result. 

Second, appellant claims that his counsel' s failure to object to the

prosecutor's argument that appellant, though claiming to be the victim, did

not contact police. He claims this conduct amounted to impermissible

comment on his pre - arrest silence and therefore was objectionable. 

Neither assertion, individually or collectively, amounts to

ineffective assistance of counsel. To prevail on an ineffective assistance

of counsel claim, Smith must show both deficient performance and

resulting prejudice. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334 -45, 899

P. 2d 1251 ( 1995). If appellant fails to satisfy either part of the test, no

further inquiry is needed. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917
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P. 2d 563 ( 1996). To show the necessary prejudice Smith must

demonstrate that it is reasonably probable that, if not for his counsel' s

deficient performance, the outcome would have been different. In re

Personal Restraint ofPirtle, 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 965 P. 2d 593 ( 1998). 

Reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine

confidence in the outcome." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U. S. 668, 

694, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 ( 1984). Smith cannot claim

ineffective assistance of counsel for conduct that can be fairly

characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics. McFarland, 127

Wn.2d at 336. Smith cannot meet the burden of showing that but for the

errors he claims, he would not have been convicted and therefore his claim

must fail. 

b. The appellant's statements were properly
used for impeachment. 

On direct examination appellant testified that the victim began

yelling at him as he stepped from the motor home. He testified that the

victim accused him of something and then hit him. III RP 287. He

explained that his friend Edmann Craig broke up the fight and that he, 

appellant, suffered injuries. III RP 288. He said no one else was involved

in the altercation. III RP 289. On cross examination, appellant was
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compelled to admit he had given quite a different response to the

responding detective. III RP 289 -300, 300 -311. 

Only after appellant offered his explanation of the fight with the

victim, did the State point out inconsistent statements he made to the

detective. The State first confirmed that it was now the appellant' s

position that he was assaulted. III RP 290. The State pointed out that

appellant told the responding detective that there had been no fight. III RP

290. He confirmed, appellant told the detective he was " not involved in a

fight." III RP 291. At trial however, he admitted that he hit the victim

numerous times, anywhere up to six times. III RP 299. When asked why

he wasn' t honest with the detective, appellant said he was " scared." III RP

298. He further explained he felt the detective was treating him as if he

were " guilty from the gate." Id. He also commented at trial that he was

not under oath" when he was talking with the detective. Id. He

explained the glaring inconsistency by stating that he was under oath at the

time he testified at trial. III RP 299. He testified the fight with the victim

was " a long fight" and they " matched hits." III RP 292, 300. 

Appellant acknowledged making the statements to the detective

and explained his reasoning for the difference, or inconsistency in the

statements he made at trial. The State was clearly entitled to point out the

contradictory nature of appellant' s testimony once appellant elected to take
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the stand and testify inconsistent with his prior out of court statements. 

Anderson v. Charles, 447 U. S. 404, 408, 100 S. Ct. 2180, 65 L. Ed. 2d

222 ( 1980); State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 511, 755 P. 2d 174 ( 1988). 

C. Defense counsel' s failure to introduce his

misdemeanor conviction may have been a

legitimate trial tactic, alternatively, it did not
prejudice him. 

Appellant assigns error to defense counsel' s failure to " pull the

sting" of the admissibility of his 2003 misdemeanor conviction. ( App. Brf. 

p. 13). While appellant may find fault in the timing of the admissibility of

the conviction, i. e. on cross - examination by the State, appellant cannot

object it was admissible. 

The State enumerated numerous possible crimes of dishonesty in

the Omnibus Order. CP 107. Though 13 are listed on the Order, the State

references somewhere in the area of 22 convictions observed in appellant' s

criminal history. In fact, appellant' s substantial unscored criminal history

formed the basis for the State requesting an exceptional sentence. Defense

counsel objected to the admissibility of all of the convictions, advocated

the proper test for the court, and ultimately succeeded in only one

conviction being admitted. I RP 7 -16; II RP 146. 

It appears that appellant' s direct examination was narrow and

focused to the fight with the victim. There is not a lot of extrinsic
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inquiries. It is a reasonable tactic to limit a criminal defendant's exposure

as much as possible, one possible method of doing so is by keeping the

questioning precisely tailored to the events in question. 

In the event of a criminal defendant with past convictions, there

can be several possible tactics in addressing the situation. Appellant

argues his counsel should have inquired first, or " pulled the sting." 

However, it is not ineffective assistance of counsel to limit the number of

times the jury hears of the conviction. For example, if defense counsel

would have made the first inquiry into the conviction, the State may have

followed up with some form of minimal questioning. However, even a

few questions by the State would mean the jury would hear of the

conviction more than once. If the inquiry is left to the State, and

particularly when there is but one conviction, it limits the number of times

the jury is exposed to the conviction. Additionally, there is also the

possibility that the State looks overly harsh or tedious in inquiring into an

old conviction. Lastly, there is also the chance that in the tribulations of

trial, the State may overlook or otherwise neglect to make the inquiry

during cross - examination, in which case the jury never hears of the

conviction. Regardless of which tactic counsel may have been following, 

counsel is in the best place to determine what may be the most
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advantageous to the defendant. Counsel' s approach may be considered a

legitimate trial tactic or strategy. 

Additionally, unlike other possible forms of evidence, the parties

are not arguing over whether the evidence of the conviction was going to

be admitted, but only by whom and how many times. There is no dispute

that once the parties had the court' s ruling, the jury was going to hear of

the defendant's conviction. The fact that it was first elicited by the State

does not result in any cognizable prejudice. The jury was going to hear

the evidence. 

Appellant overlooks his counsel' s ability to have the remaining 20+ 

convictions suppressed. His attorney was familiar with both the

applicable law and the individual facts of the appellant' s situation. The

prejudice of the conviction is its admission, not precisely when the jury

hears it. The applicable court rules address whether a conviction should

be admitted and in what fashion, they do not however address nor

advocate by whom they should be elicited. 

Furthermore, jurors are told they are the sole judges of credibility. 

CP 48 ( J. I. 1). They are also explicitly told how they are to consider the

fact that the defendant has previously been convicted of a crime, i. e. in

deciding the weight or credibility to give his testimony. CP 52 ( J. I. 4). 

We presume that juries follow the instructions and consider only evidence
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that is properly before them. State v. Johnson, 60 Wn.2d 21, 29, 371 P. 2d

611 ( 1962) ( quoting State v. Priest, 132 Wash. 580, 584, 232 P. 353

1925)). 

The appellant is unable to reasonably articulate and support the

claim that but for counsel' s election to have the conviction admitted in the

State' s case, the appellant would not have been convicted. His inability to

carry this last element causes his claim to fail. 

2. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT

PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT. 

a. The State' s comments on appellant' s acts

were not improper. 

Appellant argues that the State' s argument regarding the timing of

the admission of his conviction was prosecutorial misconduct. However, 

appellant does not offer any meaningful authority for his proposition. The

State is lawfully permitted to comment on defendant' s actions prior to and

during an investigation. 

A conviction may be reversed for prosecutorial misconduct if he

meets the appropriate burden. To do so, the appellant must establish that

1) the prosecutor acted improperly, and ( 2) the prosecutor' s improper act

prejudiced the defendant. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P. 3d

653 ( 2012). The appellant cannot establish either element. 

Appellant testified that the victim hit him as he exited the motor

home. Appellant asserted that he responded to the victim' s aggressive and
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assaultive behavior. III RP 290. The State did nothing more than argue

the reasonable inference that one who is unjustifiably assaulted as claimed

by appellant would be the more likely individual to contact law

enforcement. This argument refers to appellant' s actions directly

following the fight; they are not custodial, there is no protection to

defendant' s failure to act at this time. 

Additionally, after direct examination the State is entitled to

explore appellant's inconsistent statements including his statement to the

detective that he was not involved in a fight. The jury may deduce what

they may from appellant' s explanation that he was not under oath at the

time like he was in trial, but the State is certainly entitled to inquire. To

hold that the State could not inquire would serve to endorse allowing

defendant to go unchallenged and allow him to tell different versions of

the same event without the jury having the benefit of knowing he has

made contradictory statements. Where a suspect waives the right to

silence, agrees to speak with law enforcement, later elects to testify in his

defense, and gives an inconsistent statement, the State may introduce

evidence of the inconsistent statement for impeachment purposes. Hurd v. 

Terhune, 619 F. 3d 1080, 1086 -87 ( 9th Cir. 2010). 

Based upon the facts of this case, the appellant has failed to

demonstrate the State acted improperly. 
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b. Even if the Court were to conclude the

State' s remark was improper, appellant

cannot demonstrate the conduct prejudiced

him. 

The State asserts the argument was not improper, however, if this

Court were to find to the contrary, the cases cited by appellant to assist in

this case do not support the finding of prejudice. 

The court in State v. Curtiss, 110 Wn. App. 673, 692, 37 P. 3d

1274 ( 2002) held that " because Curtiss did not invoke her right to remain

silent during questioning, [ the detective'] s testimony regarding her lack of

response to certain interview questions was not improper." In this case, 

there was no mention -- except by defendant himself- -about electing to

remain silent. He testified that he answered the detective' s questions after

his was advised of his Constitutional rights. The State did not comment

on his ultimate decision to invoke his right to remain silent. His

statements made prior to that were available for impeachment purposes

and in fact were admitted by the State for that purpose. 

Additionally, Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U. S. 610, 96 S. Ct. 2240, 49 L. 

Ed. 2d 91 ( 1976) has a notable exception. In Anderson v. Charles, 447

U. S. 404, 100 S. Ct. 2180, 65 L. Ed. 2d 222 ( 1980) the Court stated once a

defendant waives his right to remain silent and makes a statement to

police, the prosecution may use such a statement to impeach the

defendant' s inconsistent trial testimony. Appellant' s case, State v. 
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Be[garde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 511, 755 P. 2d 174 ( 1988) specifically included

this very exception. 

Appellant argues that admission of such statements serves to have

a " chilling" affect on defendant's exercise of his right to remain silent and

that such conduct constitutes " grave misconduct" on the part of the

prosecutor. ( App.Brf. p. 19). Appellant cites State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d

664, 705, 683 P. 2d 571 ( 1984) in support of this argument. However, 

Rupe discussed a very different circumstance. In Rupe, during the penalty

phase of his death penalty trial, the State argued that Rupe Is collection of

guns were for killing, and killing only. The State argued his gun

collection was a factor to be considered against mitigation because it

portrayed his intention and desire to kill others. In finding this argument

impermissible for the penalty phase, the court concluded that using

lawfully owing gunsl could not properly be used as an argument for death. 

That is, use of constitutionally permissible conduct risked the creation of a

chilling effect on the permissible conduct and was therefore improper

argument. The circumstances are quite distinguishable than those

presently before the court. 

The appellant was entitled to either speak to the investigating

detective, or not. He testified he did so after receiving his Constitutional

warnings. The only evidence that he eventually elected to invoke his right

Rupe lawfully owned the guns in question. 
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to remain silent came from the appellant, and only the appellant. III RP

294. His contradictory statements were used only in cross - examination

and then only as permissible impeachment. 

The jury ultimately learned that the appellant gave conflicting

stories of the fight as well as not calling the police. The parties developed

significant evidence of the facts surrounding the fight, included the

testimony of a third party ( Edmann Craig) III RP 246. The appellant

testified to hitting the victim numerous times, up to and possibly including

six times. III RP 299. The jury had the benefit of hearing that the

appellant' s injuries essentially consisted of an injured hand, a cut inside his

mouth, and an eye that didn't swell until the next day. III RP 288 -89. 

The jury could have considered the disparity in the injuries as

evidence as to who was the aggressor in the fight. The victim testified to

having numerous facial fractures, including fractures that made eating

difficult. II RP 164 -66. The radiologist confirmed the extensive facial

fractures. II RP 212 -18. The deputy that responded to the victim that

evening also described a severely injured person: swollen face, around

check bones and eyes, still bleeding from his nose. III RP 274. 

The jury had the opportunity to hear from the victim and the

appellant, as well as other witnesses. They were able to observe their

testimony and make the ultimate decisions regarding credibility. 

Appellant has failed to demonstrate that any allegedly improper

comment by the prosecutor resulted in improper prejudiced. The appellant
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has failed to meet his burden that he was unduly or improperly prejudiced

by the prosecutor's comment. 

3. THE DOCTRINE OF CUMULATIVE ERROR IS

NOT APPLICABLE. 

Appellant argues that cumulative error deprived him of a fair trial. 

Under the cumulative error doctrine, a defendant' s conviction which is the

combined effect of trial errors effectively denies the defendant' s right to a

fair trial, even if each error alone would be harmless. State v. Weber, 159

Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P. 3d 646 ( 2006), cert. denied, 551 U. S. 1137 ( 2007). 

But cumulative error does not apply where there are no errors or where the

errors are few and have little or no effect on the trial' s outcome. Weber, 

159 Wn.2d at 279. 

In the present case appellant asserts that he was deprived a fair trial

because of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, as stated above, 

the timing of the admission of his conviction and the prosecutor's

cormnent on the appellant's inconsistent statements were not error. 

Additionally, appellant failed to establish the necessary elements of

ineffective assistance of counsel, namely that trial counsel' s performance

was deficient and that the conduct prejudiced him. Given appellant cannot

support his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, this argument

cannot be grounds for cumulative error. 
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Appellant's second argument in support of cumulative error is the

prosecutor's comment on appellant's inconsistent statements and his

decision not to summon police after he was allegedly assaulted by the

victim. Also as previously discussed, the prosecutor was entitled to

introduce appellant' s clearly contradictory statements. He did not commit

misconduct in eliciting proper testimony. The prosecutor' s comment that

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